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1. Name of Property NATIONAL P2

historic name: ASHLAND MILL BRIDGE

other name/site number: N/A

street & number: _near Ashland Street, over Pachaug River

not for publication: N/A

city/town: Grigswold vicinity: _Jewett City
state: CT county: _New London code: 011 zip code: 06351

Ownership of Property: public-local

Category of Property: structure
Number of Resources within Property:

Contributing Noncontributing

_ buildings
sites
1 structures
objects
1 0 Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National
Register: 0

Name of related multiple property listing: N/A
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As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act
of 1966, as amended, I hereby certify that this X nomination _____
request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation
standards for registering properties in the National Register of
Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements
set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property _X meets
does not, meet the Natiopal Register {riteria. See cont. sheet.

W 2/25/99
Si;gé%ure/Bf cere;ﬁﬁfhg official \\\\\ Date

John W. Shannahan, Director, Connecticut Historical Commission

State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property meets does not meet the National
Register criteria. See continuation sheet.
Signature of commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

5. National Park Service Certification

reby certify that this property ig

entered in the National Register
____ See continuation sheet.
determined eligible for the
National Register

_____ See continuation sheet.
determined not eligible for the
National Register

removed from the National Register

other (explain) :

Signature of Keeper Date
of Action

Historic: _TRANSPORTATION Sub: _road-related

Current: Not in use Sub:
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Architectural Classification:

Other: lenticular pony truss

Other Description: _N/A

Materials: foundation roof
walls other METAL: iron
STONE
Describe present and historic physical appearance. X See continuation
sheet.

Certifying official has considered the significance of this property in
relation to other properties: state .

Applicable National Register Criteria: _A,C
Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) : _N/A

Areas of Significance: _ENGINEERING
INDUSTRY

Period(s) of Significance: _1878-1900

Significant Dates: 1886

Significant Person(s) : N/A
Cultural Affiliation: N/A
Architect/Builder: _Berlin Iron Bridge Company (fabricator)

State significance of property, and justify criteria, criteria
considerations, and areas and periods of significance noted above.
X See continuation sheet.
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X See continuation sheet.
Previous documentation on file (NPS):

preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) has been
requested.

previously listed in the National Register

previously determined eligible by the National Register

designated a National Historic Landmark

recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey #

recorded by Historic American Engineering Record #

Primary Location of Additional Data:

X State historic preservation office Connecticut Historical Commission
_ Other state agency 59 South Prospect Street

_ Federal agency Hartford, Connecticut 06106

_ Local government

_ University

_ Other -- Specify Repository:

Acreage of Property: less than one acre

UTM References: Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing

A 19 251830 4610050 B __
c D

See continuation sheet.
Verbal Boundary Description: See continuation sheet.
The nominated property includes the bridge and the portion of the
channel stonework that serves as abutments.

Boundary Justification: See continuation sheet.
The boundary includes only the components of the bridge itself.

Name/Title: Br 1 te and Hoang Tinh, review hn Herzan
Conn. Hist. Commission

Organization: _Historic Resource Congultants Date: April 8, 1998

Street & Number: 55 Van Dyke Avenue Telephone: _860-547-0268

City or Town: Hartford State: CT  Zip: _06106
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Description Ashland Mill Bridge 7-1
Jewett City (Griswold), New London County, CT

The Ashland Mill Bridge (Photographs 1-4) is a single-span lenticular
pony truss built in 1886 by the Berlin Iron Bridge Company for the
Ashland Cotton Company, a textile manufacturer in the Jewett City section
of the Town of Griswold, Connecticut. The bridge carries a roadway that
leads from Ashland Street into the former millyard of the cotton company,
immediately adjacent to a two-story brick building that once served as
the mill's offices. The body of water spanned by the bridge is the
Pachaug River, which at this point, just below the mill dam, is a stone-

sided channel that served as the mill's tailrace. Recently, all the
manufacturing buildings, heavily damaged in a fire, were razed, and the
area is being improved as a town park. It is anticipated that the

bridge, now closed to traffic, will be rehabilitated to serve as a
pedestrian way within the park.

The bridge's key measurements are as follows: it consists of four panels
approximately 16 feet long for a total length of 65 feet; the roadway is
10 feet in width; the truss is 6 1/2 feet deep at its widest point; and
the bridge crosses the river, typically 8 feet below, at a skew angle of
28 degrees.

The truss has wrought-iron members; joints are pinned except for the end-
posts' lower-chord nut connections, a feature distinctive to the Berlin
Iron Bridge Company (Photographs 5 and 6). The end posts and curved
upper chord are box girders, measuring 6 1/2 inches by 12 inches, that
are built-up of plates, angles and, on the undersides, a single set of
lacing bars. The lower chord (which is curved in the opposite direction,
providing the truss's distinctive lens-shaped profile) consists of a
double chain of 3-inch eye-bars. The middle panels have 1 1/2-inch
tension rods as cross-bracing. Uprights (other than the end posts) are
lattice girders that diminish in width as they rise to meet the upper
chord. Tapered plate-girder floor beams carry wooden stringers, on top
of which thick planking is laid across the width of the bridge. The
floor beams are suspended from the lower-joint pins by means of long
threaded U-bolts or "hairpins" that pass through the beam's flanges and
are secured by means of a plate and nuts. The floor beams are braced
with crossed tension rods beneath the roadway and with rods running
longitudinally between the lower panel points. The bridge retains its
original railing, which consists of two 5/8-inch rods bolted to the
inside of the trusses.

Although the decking is deteriorated, the bridge appears to be in
relatively good condition for its age. There is some surface rusting,
and little remains of any paint. An old colored postcard view (c.1905)
depicts the bridge in the same red color as the brick mill buildings.
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Significance Ashland Mill Bridge 8-1
Jewett City (Griswold), New London County, CT

Summary

The Ashland Mill Bridge has statewide significance as a representative
example of late 19th-century bridge engineering (Criterion C) and as a
product of the Berlin Iron Bridge Company, a major manufacturing
concern and Connecticut's only large 19th-century bridge fabricator
(Criterion A). It also has local historical significance (Criterion A)
as one of few remaining historic resources associated with the Ashland
Cotton Company, once a major employer in Jewett City. Now that the
burned hulks of the company's 19th and early 20th-century brick mills
have been cleared away, only the dam, office building, and this bridge
remain to recall the company's importance in the economic development
of Jewett City as a textile manufacturing center. The bridge's
significance is heightened because it has experienced neither
subsequent modifications nor excessive deterioration.

Although the Berlin Iron Bridge Company built hundreds of bridges
throughout the Northeast, relatively few have survived to the present;
the Ashland Mill Bridge is one of only 19 remaining road bridges in the
company's home state of Connecticut, of which two face imminent
demolition. Many features of the Ashland Mill Bridge are typical of
the early years of metal-truss engineering, including the use of
wrought iron as the principal material, pinned connections, and an
unusual patented truss pattern. By 1900, all of these characteristics
had virtually disappeared from American bridge building. In their
place, a standardized design emerged for bridges based on the use of
steel members, riveted connections, and variations on one of only two
major truss patterns, the Warren and the Pratt trusses. The Ashland
Mill Bridge thus represents a rare survivor of the era before
standardized design prevailed.

Engineexring Significance

The Ashland Mill Bridge's lenticular truss was one of a myriad of
patented designs that characterized the American bridge industry in its
formative stage. In part, such designs were an attempt to improve the
technology of bridge building, but they also served to distinguish the
products of one fabricator from another. The Berlin Iron Bridge
Company's design, which it termed a "parabolic truss," appears to have
offered some savings of material over a comparably sized Pratt truss,
though the savings must have been largely offset by the greater
complexity in fabricating the curved top chord's multiple angles.
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Significance Ashland Mill Bridge 8-2
Jewett City (Griswold), New London County, CT

Nevertheless, the design's unique profile provided something
distinctive that Berlin salespeople could point to when trying to
convince local highway officials or mill agents of their product's
superiority.

In other respects, the truss is similar to the vast majority of its
contemporaries. Steel had not yet replaced wrought iron for structural
forms, so most bridges of the 1880s and early 1890s were built with
wrought-iron members; although it was substantially stronger, steel
took some time to become cost-competitive. Similarly, pinned
connections were only beginning to give way to riveted joints in that
period. Pinned connections were popular because they simplified the
erection of the bridge, requiring only large wrenches to join
prefabricated members instead of the more demanding technique of field
riveting. Many engineers also claimed that pinned joints allowed load
forces to be transferred less ambiguously, though all agreed that
riveted bridges were more rigid. A final characteristic of the period
evident in the Ashland Mill Bridge is the use of unusual details, such
as the tapered uprights and floor beams, both of which achieved a minor
savings in material at the cost of greater fabrication complexity.

Like the lenticular truss itself, such idiosyncratic details soon gave
way to simpler, more standard forms.

Berlin Iron Bridge Company

Unlike most American bridge firms, which were closely tied to iron and
steel makers, Connecticut's leading manufacturer of bridges began as an
offshoot of the tinware industry. Roys and Wilcox, an East Berlin
maker of tinner's tools and other metal-forming machines, set up a
company in 1868 to market sheet-iron products made with its rolling
machines. The Corrugated Metal Company, as it became known, produced
roofing material and metal-clad firedoors and shutters; the company
soon found itself involved in structural iron work when it began to
provide roof trusses as well as the exterior material. The company was
not particularly successful until a new investor in 1877, S. C. Wilcox,
realized that the plant had the capacity to manufacture highway
bridges. The following year, the Corrugated Metal Company purchased
rights to William Douglas's patented parabolic truss and produced the
first of the lenticular bridges that would soon dot the landscape of
the Northeast. Douglas, educated in engineering at West Point, joined
the company as treasurer and executive manager and continued to refine
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Jewett City (Griswold), New London County, CT

his design; he was awarded a second patent in 1885, by which time the
company had changed its name to the Berlin Iron Bridge Company.

The late 19th century was a good time to be in the bridge business. As
the industry developed, the price of iron trusses steadily dropped
until they were competitive with wooden spans, especially when their
superior durability was figured in (wooden bridges had an average
lifetime of 20-25 years). The only other alternative, for shorter
spans only, was building in stone, which remained very expensive.
Throughout America, local highway officials opted to replace their
wooden bridges with iron, and firms such as the Berlin Iron Bridge
Company were happy to oblige. Similarly, the country's manufacturing
enterprises frequently needed small bridges over their waterpower
channels for the convenient movement of employees and materials, and
they were increasingly built of the more durable iron rather than wood.

At its height, the Berlin Iron Bridge Company was probably the largest
structural fabricator in New England. Some 400 workers were employed
at its East Berlin plant, with additional large numbers of construction
workers in the field during the erection season. There is no
definitive count of the company's bridges, though at least 600 are
known to have been completed during its first ten years. Most were in
the Northeast, where the company claimed to have provided 90 percent of
the region's highway bridges. The company shipped bridges as far away
as Hawaii, and even today Berlin trusses survive in Texas. Although
the lenticular design accounted for the bulk of its output, the company
also built bridges along more conventional lines and furnished
structural iron for buildings and specialized industrial structures.

The Berlin Iron Bridge Company was absorbed in 1900 by the American
Bridge Company, a largely successful attempt by J. P. Morgan to
monopolize the country's structural fabricating capacity. The American
Bridge Company made only marginal use of its East Berlin plant, and in
1917 it was demolished entirely. By that time, a firm started by
former Berlin Iron Bridge employees, the Berlin Construction Company,
had regained much of its predecessor's share of the New England bridge
market, though with conventional riveted trusses rather than lenticular
spans. The company remains in business today and is known as Berlin
Steel.

Of the hundreds of bridges known to have been built in Connecticut by
the Berlin Iron Bridge Company, no more than 15 lenticular trusses
survive. The Ashland Mill Bridge is thus one of a shrinking number of
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Jewett City (Griswold), New London County, CT

heritage resources left to illustrate an important chapter in
Connecticut industrial history.

Hi rical Backgroun

When the Ashland Cotton Company was formed in 1863, Jewett City was
already a thriving textile village. A small cotton factory had been
established in 1812 at this waterpower privilege, and a larger mill was
operated by the textile-pioneering Slater family just downstream. The
Ashland Company immediately undertook to improve its mill privilege,
constructing a new 4 1/2-story brick mill that dwarfed the earlier
structure and raising the dam so as to create a two-mile-long pond for
its waterpower.

In February 1886, unusually heavy rains swelled rivers and streams
throughout Rhode Island and eastern Connecticut, and on February 13,
the Ashland dam gave way, damaging numerous mill buildings and carrying
off all the downstream bridges across the Pachaug River. Some 700
employees of the Ashland and Slater mills were put out of work, and the
property damage, estimated at $150,000, took two years to repair.

The Ashland Company turned to the Berlin Iron Bridge Company to replace
its millyard bridge, which connected the older mill and company office
on the west side of the Pachaug River with the newer mill building on
the east side. At the same time, the mill bought a larger Berlin
lenticular truss for the Ashland Street crossing, and the Slater mill
just downstream bought a 33-foot version for its millyard (both have
since been demolished). The mill owners may have been influenced in
their choice by the fact that the Town of Griswold had bought a Berlin
bridge in 1879 and had found it to be very satisfactory. Moreover, one
of the Ashland Company's principals, Moses Pierce of Norwich, was also
a principal in the Norwich Bleaching and Calendaring Company, which had
two Berlin bridges across the canal that supplied it with water.

Praising the qualities of the two Berlin bridges purchased by the
Ashland Cotton Company, J. O. Sweet, the company's agent and treasurer,
wrote:

The two bridges made by you, of iron, are in place. . . . I
am very much pleased with them, and am satisfied that the
are constructed on the right principle and are destined to be
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Significance Ashland Mill Bridge 8-5
Jewett City (Griswold), New London County, CT

the bridge of the future. (Berlin Iron Bridge Company,
Catalog, 1889, p. 115).

Throughout Connecticut, the small Berlin lenticular truss became the
bridge of choice for millyards. Of the dozens that were built for
various manufacturers, and the four millyard bridges that existed at
the time of the 1981 inventory of Connecticut industrial and
engineering structures, the Ashland Mill Bridge is the better-preserved
of only two that are known to have survived.

The Ashland Cotton Company employed about 200 men and women at the time
of the 1886 flood. Around 1900, expansion of the company's business
required an increase in the work force, and three additional
manufacturing buildings were added to the site. As late as the 1980s,
the Ashland mill remained in operation, though by that time it had been
converted to the manufacture of synthetic textiles such as rayon.
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Photographs Ashland Mill Bridge Photos-1
Jewett City (Griswold), New London County, CT

All photographs:

1. Ashland Mill Bridge
2. Jewett City (Griswold), Windham County, CT
4. April, 1998
5. Negative filed with Connecticut Historical Commission
Hartford, CT
Captions:

East end of bridge, camera facing west
Photograph 1 of 6

West end of bridge, camera facing north
Photograph 2 of 6

South elevation of bridge, Ashland Mill office at left, camera facing
northwest
Photograph 3 of 6

North elevation of bridge, camera facing southeast
Photograph 4 of 6

Detail of pinned joints, south elevation, camera facing northeast
Photograph 5 of 6

Detail of nuts securing lower chord at end post, east end, camera
facing north
Photograph 6 of 6
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frane farnhouse with a pitched rocf and end gable overhang, sits in the ©
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south =nd ie dorirated by a projectine cavilion topved ith a broken-
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2Cth century for thc Tuvrnece, is ¢
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with two arched windows, the remaindéer of the late 1&th-century detail
survives. T. flat nilas<ers support the broken-baze nediment over the
door, which is toppred with an elabcyrate 20-vane fanlisht. The entrance
with its broken-base fEdltht and supporting rilesters echoes the
treatmernt of <he cntire bay. )
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when in place, the shutters would have created a sirilar effect. The
mantel in this room is handsormely finished and surrounted witha pulvinat-
ed frieze and a course of dentils. The woodwork in the west front room
is simpler. A molded corrice surrounds the room, which also has a

chair rail with shutter runners, but the rantel is roldéed only with a
dentil course. In the west rear room, the fireplace wall is cémpletely
parnelled; directly over the fireplace, is one huge panel from a singl
ziece of wood. The rest of the room is wainscotted bhelow the chair rail.
The east rear room has been divided into two small rooms; these vere not
seen, tut one 1s a2 bathrcom. Up s, the eerst front room has a nolded
chair roil and cased flared post but no fireplace, wrile, in +the west
front room, similarly treated, t e is 2

cal to the one in the roonr directl
the east rear room has a simply ro
rear on the wvest was nct seen.

:low. The firevlace opening into
wentel, while the room to the

—

The roof of the FYerkins ¥
into the hewn rafters. I
si:oke oven; both stacks a

1 the right (east) chimney stack is 2 brick

..

syrrmetrically above the ro
5

ouse is framed with sawn collar beams pegged
g
re angled in in the attic so that they emerse

of. Similar g%illful rasonry can be seen in
the cellar, where several niches are set into the store wolls of +he
foundaticn; presumably these were intended for the cocl storase of foods.

The 1-and-a-t-story ell to the rear, older then the rain nhcuse, nrobably

dates from the second quarter of the 18th century. The ell has been
renovated, obscuring some of its detailing. A rodern door ir “he center
of the east wall was s2id,by the present owner,to be in the originsl
location of the ell's entrance. Opposite thris door, a tinv sitaircace
with winding treads leads to the attic, The door to the staircase is

of corsidersble age and constructed of two boards, one norrow and one
vicder, The room to the richt (north) of the door is now the kitchen.

&L hevn surmmer bean is visible and flered cesed posts are discernible,

but the room has besn nuch altered by the addition of rodern cabinets

and wall covering. The scuthern room also has 2 hewn sumner beanm and the
flared postes ret=in their traditions? casing. Under its current wall-
paper, the north wall, with a now covered over fire-lace, appears to

be panelled. The attic above is open and finished with beaded bosrding,
vertically arvplied. The pitched roof is frarmed with hewn rofters. The
ell trus aipears to have been a simple, 2-roor, central-chirney structure.

n
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Joshua Jerxins Yousme, once rown a5 Achlawn for the znciocnt ask

<
trees {(nov gone) which stood befors it, i sigmificont o ~n cynmredrion
of rural Ceorglin arcritecture and for its zssociaticns with the .erkins
family, rarticularly influential ir the getilement of the Ianovar cection
0 0Tt SUe. wc:pitn a 17th-cen ury cT e to 2-over-2 ga2sh, the facade
re a cooG nezsure of its count» : elewanco with 1ts pedinented
entrel bay and corner rzilasters. The Jeriing se is cne of the Tince
of ite type in the sgurrournding area, on unj:eten+muuo tut nonetheless
strligh 18th~century Torrhe built for 2 ~rorirsnt and 2roSrercus

doghus .erviirg, the ori ovner of ths houre, wald the ¢ldest son cf
vavtein cotthew rerkine e U rover L - rord f Lisbon
arc no. incorsorsted in the tov ctrer,Jocarh,
eand kis \ncl cecob, cettled o 0 onerne
of “uinesbous

Ti the

af

e nare in
oL Torover

st north of
riS ornave
ands in & cenctery o

is buried L;ore.

criting nauch
.

ULQ* e, in
1726 and
the

1 others in rily did,

is in tha lLV;LtU¢J of his

£s hove owned slavec.

Architecturally, the house is characierized by o desipgn, which, while it
is not elabor ﬁtv, is fairly sophist cated for a rurel comrunity. It is
one of few central hall structures in the 2rez =nd the fﬁcado with the
wotif of the brclan- bc\@ pedinrent stated =2t the roof and again above the
door, is haon itively., In ~ddition, the queolity of the rnasonry
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is quite good. The nceticne 2are faced with dressed stone; the storase
nichrs in the cellar, ansled chirney Otﬁcks anc thelr exterior corbellirg

11 incicate the skill of the mascn. The interior wocdwork, while
81mple, is nonetheless skillfully treated. The house was clesrly built
by a capsble joiner, with 2 good eye for decorative detailing and a
skxilled nrand at rasonry.

v

The acreage on which the house now stands is only a portion of that

£0O0 acres Joshua Zerking deeded to his son righte to drainage ditche

wrhich Joshua acquired indicate that he wasny ouleé ceable farrer. Up
until 1862, the land wascultivatedit that noint, WS, Zreed, ancestor of
the present owner, purchased the ferm for a dairy farm, 1 u;1ch it re-
mained into the 20%th century.

mam™s A

1. Ferkins, Ceorge L., T FALLILY CF IF5.ICH, FMACSSACHUSETTS,
YART 11T, Frrivately published by Author, Salen, 1w8_ Foo12.

2. D.Hoamilton Hurd, FISTORY CF LT LOUDOI C'ULTY, Philadelphia, J.V.
Lewis and Compeny, 1882, P. 537.

TOLINY LTI TN ~T
9 Iu. BN A Y .1.“» w



